

FINANCIAL INNOVATIONS LAB®

Integrating ESG Data to Improve Risk Management and Municipal Resili<u>ence</u>

OCTOBER 2022





ABOUT THE MILKEN INSTITUTE

The Milken Institute is a nonprofit, nonpartisan think tank focused on accelerating measurable progress on the path to a meaningful life. With a focus on financial, physical, mental, and environmental health, we bring together the best ideas and innovative resourcing to develop blueprints for tackling some of our most critical global issues through the lens of what's pressing now and what's coming next.

ABOUT FINANCIAL INNOVATIONS LABS

Financial Innovations Labs[®] bring together researchers, policymakers, and business, financial, and professional practitioners to create market-based solutions to business and public policy challenges. Using real and simulated case studies, participants consider and design alternative capital structures and then apply appropriate financial technologies to them.

ABOUT THE CENTER FOR FINANCIAL MARKETS

<u>The Center for Financial Markets</u> (CFM) conducts research and constructs programs designed to facilitate the smooth and efficient operation of financial markets—to help ensure that they are fair and available to those who need them when they need them. Responding to the challenges and shortcomings of the public sector exposed during the COVID crisis, the CFM's <u>Excellence and Equity in Public Finance</u> program (PFIN) was created in late 2020. PFIN's targeted programming promotes cross-sectoral partnerships among innovators, investors, and issuers of bonds to improve the delivery of essential public services to all.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Maressa Brennan, Ivy Hsu, and Caitlin MacLean prepared this report.

We are grateful to those who participated in the Financial Innovations Lab for contributing to the ideas and recommendations summarized in this report. We would especially like to thank the Heron Foundation for its partnership on the project. We want to thank our Milken Institute colleagues Dan Carol, Rachel Halfaker, Mike Piwowar, Michelle Brito, and Théo Cohan for their work. Finally, we would like to thank editor John Rosenthal for his efforts on the report.

©2022 Milken Institute

This work is made available under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Unported License, available at <u>creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/</u>.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ISSUES AND PERSPECTIVES	4
The Costs and Opportunities of Assessing ESG Risks	4
Environmental Costs	
Social Costs	7
The Growing Sustainable Investment Opportunity	8
Current ESG Data Landscape	10
Voluntary Reporting Frameworks and Standards	10
Traditional Financial Reporting	10
Data Aggregation Platforms	11
ESG in Credit Ratings	11
Barriers to Broader ESG Data Adoption by Muni Issuers	12
Incomplete and Inconsistent Data	12
A Lack of Strategic Risk Management	14
Disclosures Are Inconsistent	15
Education and Resource Gaps	15
INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS	18
Establish a Risk Management System	18
Establish a Risk Management System Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case	
	20
Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case	20 21
Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case Build a Technology Platform to Centralize Data	20 21 21
Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case Build a Technology Platform to Centralize Data Sharing Internal Data Allows Agencies to Work Smarter, Not Harder	20 21 21 21
Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case Build a Technology Platform to Centralize Data Sharing Internal Data Allows Agencies to Work Smarter, Not Harder Accessibility Is Essential	20 21 21 21 22
Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case Build a Technology Platform to Centralize Data Sharing Internal Data Allows Agencies to Work Smarter, Not Harder Accessibility Is Essential The External Use Case	20 21 21 21 22 22
Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case Build a Technology Platform to Centralize Data Sharing Internal Data Allows Agencies to Work Smarter, Not Harder Accessibility Is Essential The External Use Case Budgeting for a Centralized Solution	20 21 21 21 22 22 22
Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case Build a Technology Platform to Centralize Data Sharing Internal Data Allows Agencies to Work Smarter, Not Harder Accessibility Is Essential The External Use Case Budgeting for a Centralized Solution Create Centers of Excellence for Coordination	20 21 21 22 22 23 25
Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case Build a Technology Platform to Centralize Data Sharing Internal Data Allows Agencies to Work Smarter, Not Harder Accessibility Is Essential The External Use Case Budgeting for a Centralized Solution Create Centers of Excellence for Coordination Utilize New and Existing Disclosure Platforms	20 21 21 22 22 22 25 25
Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case Build a Technology Platform to Centralize Data Sharing Internal Data Allows Agencies to Work Smarter, Not Harder Accessibility Is Essential The External Use Case Budgeting for a Centralized Solution Create Centers of Excellence for Coordination Utilize New and Existing Disclosure Platforms Encourage the Use of Engagement Letters	20 21 21 21 22 22 25 25
Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case Build a Technology Platform to Centralize Data Sharing Internal Data Allows Agencies to Work Smarter, Not Harder Accessibility Is Essential The External Use Case Budgeting for a Centralized Solution Create Centers of Excellence for Coordination Utilize New and Existing Disclosure Platforms Encourage the Use of Engagement Letters Create an Annual Risk and Impact Statement	20 21 21 22 22 23 25 25 25
Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case Build a Technology Platform to Centralize Data	20 21 21 22 22 23 25 25 25 25
Categorize Types of Data and Define the Use Case Build a Technology Platform to Centralize Data	20 21 21 22 22 23 25 25 25 25 26 29 29

INTRODUCTION

The last 20 years have been challenging for state and local governments, a \$3.3 trillion economic sector employing millions of Americans.¹ Severe budget shortfalls created by the 2008– 2009 Great Recession, followed by the shock of the COVID-19 pandemic, have left their mark in disparate ways on the nearly 50,000 units of government that issue bonds to fund schools, health care, public safety, and other community infrastructure projects.² Local governments are critical to America's physical and social infrastructure. County budgets, for example, directly fund 78 percent of public transit systems and manage 44 percent of public roads.³ Strained local resources are to the detriment of communities from coast to coast.

On top of all of this disruption, social and environmental issues have become two of the most pressing concerns for local governments across the United States. In the past two years alone, countless communities have contended with a dramatic increase in the number and severity of climate change-driven events. In February 2021, a series of winter storms devastated the state of Texas, killing hundreds and causing a power crisis that left homes and businesses without electricity for several days. In August 2021, Hurricane Ida carved a destructive path through Louisiana and Mississippi, becoming one of the strongest hurricanes in US history.⁴ In California, the Dixie Fire, the second largest in the state's history, burned nearly 1 million acres and more than 1,300 structures.⁵ These climate risks are trending upward in quantity, size, economic impact, and geographic coverage across the nation, with an estimated \$145 billion in damages in 2021 alone.⁶

Climate risks are trending upward nationally; estimated damages in 2021 were \$145 billion.

Several key social issues are also significantly affecting local government budgets. Even before the COVID-19 pandemic, nearly 600,000 people were experiencing homelessness across the US,⁷ straining local resources nationwide. That number is sure to increase when annual counts of the homeless resume in 2022. Meanwhile, counties experiencing high opioid mortality rates are seeing reductions in their credit rating.⁸ As a result of a multitude of factors, local budget allocations to policing increased 179 percent between 1977 and 2019.⁹ And increased scrutiny of police conduct over the last decade has led local governments to pay \$3 billion in misconduct lawsuits.¹⁰

As municipalities confront the costs and consequences of rising global temperatures and significant social challenges, capital planning, budgeting procurement, and public asset management must adequately account for and mitigate these risks. In addition to data-driven innovation and delivery system reform, many municipalities are starting to address their exposure to environmental, social, and governance (ESG)-related hazards by adopting policies and programs that improve their ability to anticipate, respond, and report material risk factors to municipal bond investors seeking this information. ESG risk assessment is crucial because it gauges vulnerabilities holistically and considers factors beyond traditional financial disclosure requirements. Local governments must integrate this information more effectively into their capital planning, budgeting, and asset management processes to avoid greenlighting or enabling projects with unexpected social and environmental costs and consequences.

Introducing ESG data during an infrastructure project's capital planning and budgeting stage can help reduce or prevent expensive restoration efforts down the line, which can further strain already stretched municipal funds. Because annual budgets cannot fund significant resiliency improvements all at once, local governments will often issue municipal (muni) bonds to raise necessary investments. Muni bonds are tax-exempt debt securities issued by local governments or agencies to finance capital expenditures. In the wake of increasingly common climate change-driven weather events and a renewed focus on social issues in recent years, sustainable investing has grown in high demand. Many bond issuers argue that before the theme of sustainable investing took hold of financial markets, muni bonds were an early sustainable finance tool since they were used to build projects for the general public, including wastewater treatment plants, recycling programs, and public transportation systems. As the pool of investors seeking sustainable investment opportunities grows, municipalities are keen to take advantage of the momentum to attract new capital sources to fund their resiliency efforts.

Capitalizing on this opportunity begins with designing projects informed by and in response to environmental and social factors that assess project resiliency. Unfortunately, local governments raising capital, or municipal issuers, currently have limited options to aggregate, analyze, and operationalize existing, or collect new, ESG datasets. Adding to the challenges are inconsistent investor requests for data, which makes the sustainable issuance process inefficient and convoluted for governments raising capital.

In April 2022, the Milken Institute's Innovative Finance and Center for Financial Markets teams held a Financial Innovations Lab in New York to identify solutions to streamline the integration of ESG data into capital planning and bond issuance. The Lab brought together issuers, credit rating agencies, data providers, investors, regulators, and underwriters to develop recommendations that will help advance the market. The Lab discussions focused on discerning and filling existing data gaps, establishing best practice centers, and developing partnerships and incentive programs for governments.

ISSUES AND PERSPECTIVES

The Costs and Opportunities of Assessing ESG Risks

As demand for sustainable debt continues to increase, municipalities and investors have a golden opportunity to work together to create safer communities. Though many municipalities inherently address ESG risks through various projects, often the bond issuances lack the dedicated disclosures sought by sustainabilityminded investors. Overcoming this barrier requires a shared understanding among all stakeholders around the need to incorporate ESG risks into decisionmaking and how to disclose these efforts effectively. For municipalities, this means proactively building resilience against these risks by thoughtfully designing projects accounting for ESG-related data points. On the investor side, standardized data requests could help simplify the process, encouraging greater issuer participation. And with sustainable debt demand increasing, municipalities and investors can work together to create safer communities.

ESG: Fact or Fiction?

The current dialogue around ESG has elicited varying opinions on the validity of integrating alternative factors other than financial into decision making. Critics argue that ESG investments do not outperform the broader market, that, at times, the underlying companies in these portfolios have ESG concerns of their own, and that calling out ESG is redundant to work already being undertaken.¹¹ On the other hand, champions point out that ESG cannot be condensed into a single descriptive indicator and that early identification of risks, such as extreme weather, can save taxpayers and investors. Their perspective is that non-traditional and newly emergent financial risk factors must be integrated into decision making processes to fully account for the range of risks around any type of investment.

Recently, the Milken Institute's Program for Excellence and Equity in Public Finance council members commented on these concerns as part of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board's request for information on ESG Practices. The council acknowledges that often sustainability, ESG risks, and community impact are conflated, when in reality they are separate, complex topics. Council members state "ESG is not an asset class"; the acronym refers to factors that can be used for distinct purposes: To identify risks associated with prospective or existing investments, and to disclose and measure the impact of activities and programs.¹² For the purpose of this work, and educating the market broadly, ESG should not be confused with a label. Rather, ESG factors should be leveraged by the municipal bond market as an opportunity to save taxpayers and public pensioners money by avoiding foreseeable costs.

ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

Hurricanes, fires, floods, and tornadoes are nothing new. Local governments have always had to budget for these kinds of environmental calamities. But in recent decades, the intensity and frequency of extreme weather events have become much more pronounced. Described as financially material costs, this new normal is taking an outsized toll on municipalities, often affecting a community's fiscal stability and/or its ability to repay investors.

Communities incur high costs from several kinds of environmental risks. The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration recorded 273 separate climate and weather disasters in the US with economic damages of \$1 billion or more between 1980 and 2020; hurricanes and tropical storms accounted for more than half the total of \$1.79 trillion.¹³ The Congressional Budget Office estimated that hurricanes and storm-related flooding alone cause more than \$54 billion in damages yearly in the US. Of that total, \$34 billion is borne by households, \$9 billion by commercial businesses, and \$12 billion by the public sector (Figure 1).¹⁴



Figure 1: Annual Flood Damage Costs

Source: Milken Institute analysis (2022) of Congressional Budget Office data (2019)

Those figures will likely become even starker as the number of people living in coastal areas continues to grow. Figure 2 below shows that the Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico coasts saw a population increase of 15 percent between 2000 and 2016, even though hurricanes causing damages of \$10 billion or more walloped the region 11 times over that period. The federal government may pick up some of the tabs for these kinds of disasters, but they also have an impact on municipal budgets in the form of lost revenue, especially for communities that depend on tourism. Ultimately, fixed disaster preparedness spending and unguaranteed federal aid mean that much of the cost balance falls on municipalities.

Figure 2: Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico Coastline County Populations in Millions (2000-2016)



Source: Milken Institute (2022), adapted from National Climatic Data Center (2016)

For drought-ridden states such as California, the greatest threat posed by climate change is not too much rainfall but too little. Researchers at the Wharton Risk Management and Decision Processes Center estimated the economic damages from California's 2018 wildfire season at \$148.5 billion.¹⁵ Those losses included direct capital costs such as incinerated buildings and health costs related to air pollution exposure, and indirect losses such as lost hours worked and disruption to supply chains.¹⁶ Wildfires have knock-on

effects as well that can cost cities dearly. In the aftermath of a big burn, the loss of trees destabilizes the soil, leading to mudslides with the season's first rains.

As climate-related disasters continue to increase in severity and frequency, the cost of restoring impacted areas puts municipalities in a financial bind: Take on additional debt or reallocate funds from everyday services such as police and fire departments, emergency medical services, public transportation, and public works. Reducing public services may exacerbate issues like crime, traffic, and housing insecurity. But taking on more debt can lower a city's credit rating, which assesses the likelihood it will be able to repay its debt. Having a lower credit rating makes it more expensive to borrow capital. Therefore, municipalities must more effectively assess ESG-related factors to enable local governments to protect their communities and budgets when climate-related disasters happen.

SOCIAL COSTS

Social issues, including the opioid epidemic and the lack of affordable housing, are putting a similar strain on municipal budgets. Even with the economy near full employment in 2019, nearly one-third of Americans paid more than 30 percent of their incomes on housing,¹⁷ and 17.6 million households spent more than half of their incomes on rent or mortgages.¹⁸ The affordable housing crisis will only intensify as inflation increases faster than wages.

According to the National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty, "insufficient income and lack of affordable housing are the leading causes of homelessness."¹⁹ If this problem remains unaddressed, municipalities may find themselves with large homeless populations, which can discourage tourists from visiting and new businesses and residents from locating there. Large homeless populations also pose public health concerns, as unhoused people suffer from higher rates of HIV infection, alcohol and drug use disorders, mental illness, tuberculosis, and other conditions.²⁰ Consequently, they often require a disproportionate amount of intervention by first responders and other public resources, which generates expense instead of income. Municipalities that allow homelessness to become severe may find that these economic costs inflict a serious blow to their budgets.

Like homelessness, the opioid epidemic has evolved into an economic crisis for local governments. By one estimate, the total economic cost associated with opioid use disorders in the US topped \$1 trillion a year.²¹ Those expenses include health-care spending for individuals with opioid use disorder, police and protection services, criminal justice activities, government-funded child and family assistance programs, education programs, and lost productivity costs.²² For counties with high rates of fatal opioid overdoses, those obligations translate to increased borrowing costs, lower credit ratings, and a reduced number of bonds funded.²³ In all, counties with the highest rates of opioid use disorder

saw a \$15 million reduction in yearly bond funding or about twice the price of a new Research from 2021 found that New York City paid an average of \$170 million annually to settle police misconduct suits, Chicago paid \$46 million, and Los Angeles paid nearly \$33 million. elementary school.²⁴ Unsurprisingly, counties that experience high rates of opioid overdose deaths also exhibit higher expenditures related to police and protection services.

Police brutality has both direct and indirect impacts on municipal budgets. In March 2021, the city of Minneapolis paid a \$27 million settlement to the family of George Floyd, who was murdered by a city police officer 10 months earlier. Some of the money came from the city's general obligation fund, the primary budget for government operations.²⁵ But that wasn't the only cost. The riots that erupted almost immediately after Floyd's murder resulted in the destruction of more than 1,500 Minneapolis-area businesses. In response, S&P Global downgraded the city's general obligation debt outlook from stable to negative. The rating agency cited potential costs related to reforming its police department, liabilities from lawsuits pertaining to Floyd's death, and increased worker compensation claims related to the unrest as risks that impacted Minneapolis's ability to repay its debts.²⁶ The economic effects of police misconduct aren't limited to Minneapolis or other cities with highprofile brutality cases. Research compiled in 2021 by FiveThirtyEight and The Marshall Project found that New York City paid an average of \$170 million annually to settle police misconduct suits, Chicago spent \$46 million per year, and Los Angeles paid nearly \$33 million.²⁷

If local governments do not understand the expected costs associated with environmental and social risks, their budgets are in peril. Without factoring in robust ESG metrics, it is impossible to see the complete picture.

THE GROWING SUSTAINABLE INVESTMENT OPPORTUNITY

While the main driver for a more comprehensive understanding of ESG risks is to protect communities, there are trickle-down benefits to investors. Demand for sustainable investment instruments has never been higher. The Forum for Sustainable and Responsible Investment estimates that \$17.1 trillion, or one out of every three dollars under professional management in the US, was managed according to sustainable investing strategies in 2020 (see Figure 3). This amounts to a 42 percent increase from two years prior.²⁸

Figure 3: Sustainable Investing in the US (1995-2020)



Source: Milken Institute (2022), adapted from US SIF Foundation

While labeled sustainable debt comprises only 9.7 percent of the US municipal bond market, as shown in Figure 4, that doesn't paint the complete picture.²⁹ Issuers at the Lab argued that municipal bonds have always financed projects to address sustainability; they are just not explicitly labeled as such. Sustainable debt, whose use of proceeds funds public projects with dedicated environmental or social benefits, has reached record highs every year since 2019.³⁰ Standard & Poor's anticipates it will top \$60 billion in the US and \$1.5 trillion worldwide in 2022.³¹

Each increase in the size of the sustainable bond market creates a virtuous circle, as greater awareness of these instruments helps bolster risk management. As such, issuers may expect to receive growing requests from investors for ESG data. On the other hand, issuers have abundant opportunities to fund their sustainability-aligned projects.



Figure 4: Sustainable Debt as a Percentage of the Total US Municipal Market (2013-2022)

Source: Milken Institute (2022), adapted from S&P Global Ratings (2022)

Current ESG Data Landscape

The marketplace for tools to systematically measure sustainability metrics has grown along with the expanding ESG landscape. The research consultancy Opimas reported that the market for ESG data surpassed \$1 billion in 2021 and may exceed \$1.3 billion by the end of 2022.³² The majority of ESG data (70 percent) comes in the form of research and analytics, but ESG indices, which account for the other 30 percent, are the fastest-growing segment of the market.³³ A flurry of mergers and acquisitions over the past decade has concentrated about 60 percent of the ESG data market in the three largest providers. But it is still an industry in its infancy, with numerous startup and boutique firms.³⁴ And as regulatory requirements around ESG risk assessment and disclosure continue to emerge, existing financial services firms will likely launch dedicated ESG data analysis units.

VOLUNTARY REPORTING FRAMEWORKS AND STANDARDS

There are two categories of voluntary ESG reporting: frameworks and standards. Frameworks identify the broad topics to include in disclosures and how the information is structured and communicated. Standards provide specific requirements and metrics that organizations can follow when reporting. Although frameworks and standards fulfill different purposes, they are complementary. Standards help communicate the impact of sustainability issues on a company's long-term value.³⁵ Those standards can then serve as a tool for companies seeking to implement a principles-based framework.³⁶

One of the most prevalent sets of standards is published by the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). Its prescriptive rules create a shared, replicable reporting language that enables any organization to communicate its impact on people, the environment, and the economy. This information is often included in a corporate sustainability report or similar document shared with a broader group of stakeholders. Industry-specific standards crafted by the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) help organizations identify and communicate sustainability information that impacts financial performance and market valuation. These two sets of standards are intended to complement one another.

The framework created by the Taskforce on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), meanwhile, focuses solely on environmental issues. TCFD helps firms align their climaterelated risk disclosures to investor needs and recommends ways organizations can communicate climate impacts on fiscal health. This information typically lives in an annual financial report. Nuances aside, all sustainability reporting mediums share a common purpose of providing actionable guidelines to encourage and facilitate more disclosure of ESG information in official documents. For municipalities in the early stages of assessing their ESG risks, understanding the types of data that feed into the existing frameworks and standards can help them understand the information they need to collect.

TRADITIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

Traditional metrics that evaluate earnings and cash flow are familiar to investors because corporations and governments legally must report them in annual filings to the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Municipal securities are exempt from these SEC regulations but are subject to oversight by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (MSRB). The MSRB does not have strict mandatory reporting requirements, but it is a best practice for municipal issuers to publish an Official Statement to help investors make informed decisions. The purpose of an Official Statement is threefold: To provide a description of the transaction, to help market the issuance, and to disclose material information, including risks. This information is typically communicated by sharing details on the issuing agency's background and overall financial condition, how the bond's proceeds will be used, and the sources of securities repayment. Since individual retail investors make up a considerable portion of municipal bond buyers, the Official Statement typically contains enough information that an investor does not need to do additional due diligence.³⁷

The MSRB has an existing publicly accessible platform to help aggregate available issuerreported data. However, it is not ESG-specific, and more offerings are still needed.³⁸ Issuers looking for initial guidance or an example to follow can utilize the MSRB's Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) platform. EMMA provides disclosure document data and indicates whether an issuance has been self-designated or independently certified as Green, Climate, Social, or Sustainable.

Similar platforms that create a central location for issuer disclosures can help investors quickly identify which bonds have been certified under sustainable frameworks or standards such as TCFD or SASB. Importantly, the public accessibility of these data facilitates market transparency, allowing issuers to feel more comfortable making disclosures without fear of legal repercussions.

DATA AGGREGATION PLATFORMS

Several municipal-specific data platforms and aggregators have emerged in tandem with the growing interest in ESG disclosure. These companies range from aggregators of data disclosed by issuers to firms that use proprietary algorithms to analyze and translate datasets into meaningful comparisons or projections. A questionnaire created by CDP (formerly known as the Carbon Disclosure Project) invites municipal issuers to report climate-related datasets such as emissions, renewable energy levels, and the water security measures in place.³⁹ CDP analyzes these data to produce a score that rates the city's performance and provides feedback on how to improve. By sharing information on a platform thousands of businesses use, local governments can find opportunities to collaborate with the private sector, compare datasets, realize areas of improvement, and ensure long-term prosperity.

Since reporting cities receive high-quality data back from CDP, it incentivizes them to contribute data to the marketplace. More than 1,000 cities have participated in CDP's platform, and 95 have received the organization's top ranking.

Issuers with more experience assessing ESG risks may opt for more sophisticated data analyses from providers like Urban Footprint or Intercontinental Exchange Data Services. These firms apply algorithms that model climate risk and help cities assess the social and environmental impacts of different climate risk scenarios. Scenario planning allows municipal market participants to understand the longer-term implications of ESG risk factors on community resilience and inform holistic and fluid climate adaptation plans.

ESG IN CREDIT RATINGS

In recent years, traditional credit rating agencies, including S&P Global, Moody's, and Fitch Ratings, have added ESG-specific scores to their evaluations. These scores rate issuers on their exposure to ESG-related factors and their alignment with various internationally recognized frameworks or standards. ESG-specific scores help fixed-income investors put a price on environmental and social risks and benefits over the long term. This shift in investor perspective may encourage issuers to think more broadly about the metrics they report on and utilize the range of options more effectively. However, the ultimate objective of credit rating agencies in their role in the public finance market is to continue to provide insight into the issuer's ability and likelihood of repaying debt. As long as current disclosures are deemed effective in rating an issuer's ability to pay back debt, rating agencies may not provide explicit reporting preferences to issuers.

Therefore, even with a wide range of frameworks and reporting tools, municipalities still struggle to understand exactly which datasets they need to gather or provide, and how they should present these data to rating agencies, underwriters, and investors. Most public ESG roadmaps define issues of materiality from the perspective of corporations. Most of them fail to consider the issues and growth prospects relevant to communities, such as demographic trends and household incomes. While rating agencies and investors use in-house and proprietary evaluation criteria, there is often ambiguity around specific ESG-related data points in the public finance sphere. Additionally, since there is yet to be a central repository for municipal-level ESG data, any voluntarily reported information is most likely fragmented and challenging to track down efficiently. With ESG materiality varying by city and region, creating standards that apply across the board is challenging.

Barriers to ESG Adoption

- Incomplete data may impair a community's resiliency, preventing issuers from participating in the labeled sustainable bond market.
- Siloed risk management within local government is a major hindrance to data collection.
- ESG risks and reporting have historically been divorced from traditional financial documentation.
- Developing in-house expertise can be prohibitively expensive.

Barriers to Broader ESG Data Adoption by Muni Issuers

Participants at the Financial Innovations Lab generally agreed that the most significant barrier to broader ESG adoption was the lack of comprehensive empirical data. Where data are available, they may not be consistent with other cities' measurements. And because different agencies are responsible for measuring various impacts, the data may fail to tell the whole story.

INCOMPLETE AND INCONSISTENT DATA

While muni issuers have long financed projects and programs that support communities, an explicit focus on sustainability has not been a priority. Therefore, most local governments have not dedicated resources to tracking certain types of information. This has led to entire categories of environmental and social risk data not being readily available at the municipal level. Lab participants mentioned that property and casualty firms have been collecting data on weather events for years, yet this information isn't routinely integrated into municipal capital planning processes. Nor are data about biodiversity (which cities use to decide where to locate environmental interventions), programs that mitigate water leakage, or latitude and longitude information about the predictability of weather events and their effects on surface flooding and wastewater.

> On the social front, key data types that require more robust reporting and tracking include gender equality, board diversity, conflict of interest policies, public health response capacity, and opioid use. Gaps in these data don't just impair a community's long

term health and resiliency, they may prevent issuers from participating in the labeled sustainable bond market at all.

Lab participants at both issuer and investor entities also bemoaned a lack of consistency in how data are reported. Focusing on sustainable municipal bond issuances, which pay for many resiliency projects at a local level, most have yet to adhere uniformly to a single reporting framework. There are no requirements for what Official Statements must include. That makes it more difficult for investors to efficiently locate the data they need to evaluate and compare bonds. At the same time, a portfolio of investors all requesting unique data sets is not feasible for issuers to manage.

These inconsistencies in reporting don't just deter investors from buying green bonds and issuers from reporting; they also make it harder to trumpet the achievements of bonds, given the lack of post-issuance reporting on the use of proceeds and outcomes. In 2021 alone, there was a total of \$5.6 billion in bonds where issuers failed to track the environmental and social impact of the investments. The vast majority were US municipal bonds.⁴⁰ Without a standard framework telling municipalities what data to report and when, the ESG bond market has limited potential, and many issuers have opted out of reporting on voluntary sets of ESG data beyond what they see others disclosing.

Because so many social and environmental issues take decades to assess, climate change data must illustrate current concerns and analyze future risks. For example, Broward County's 100-year storm projections measure climate risks over longer timelines to better understand the community's risk exposure. Unfortunately, most regions are not taking such a long view.

The City of Virginia Beach

In 2015, the city of Virginia Beach initiated the Comprehensive Sea Level Rise and Recurrent Flooding Study, which quantified the economic losses of flooding from sea level rise in 2015, in the 2040s, and the 2070s. The study found that if the city took no action to combat a projected 1.5 feet of sea level rise, annual average flood-related losses would triple from \$26 million to \$77 million in the 2040s.⁴¹ By the 2070s, a projected rise of 3 feet would cause a 12-fold increase to \$329 million in damages every year.⁴² Collecting data that span extended periods gives both issuers and investors a valuable capital planning perspective on the perils of ESG-related risks, especially for environmental threats that worsen over time. Unfortunately, most municipalities don't have the advanced and customized scenario planning data capabilities to provide this kind of data.

A LACK OF STRATEGIC RISK MANAGEMENT

Enterprise risk management (ERM) offers a more holistic and inclusive way of considering hazards to an organization as a whole rather than in each of its silos. Unfortunately, too few municipalities have adopted such a strategic approach to risk management. A 2018 American Society for Public Administration analysis found that only seven out of 204 local governments surveyed (4 percent) had implemented some aspect of an ERM system.⁴³ While federal agencies and corporations have spent an enormous amount of time and resources designing and implementing ERM systems, local government has a unique implementation challenge due to its governance model, oversight authorities, and fragmented agency reporting mechanisms.⁴⁴

Lab participants underscored the problems caused by poor communication and siloed operations within local government as major hindrances to data collection and wider data sharing. This is particularly true for larger municipalities, where existing information is often disaggregated, and getting access from multiple agencies can be challenging. Agencies may have no option other than to report their disjointed data. Under these circumstances, projects may not reflect an investment's complete impact.

For example, Miami-Dade Water and Sewer, the agency responsible for upgrading water infrastructure, may calculate the reduction in flooding after improving sidewalk drainage. But those metrics might overlook the benefit to local businesses, which is measured by the Miami Downtown Development Authority. In other cases, issuers might not even know where to find data that could paint a more complete picture than a single agency reports. This lack of coordination makes it harder for issuers and investors to compare the outcomes of different projects. In 2018, only 7 of 204 local governments surveyed had implemented an enterprise risk management system.

Even when agencies do share data, they don't automatically integrate that information into capital planning decisions, particularly if there is not a central risk management officer responsible for leveraging available insights for mitigation strategies. Participants discussed the London Mayor's Green New Deal Recovery plan, which focuses on updating infrastructure for frontline communities disproportionately impacted by climate change. Flood risk data provided by a handful of local agencies helped city leaders realize that 25 percent of subway stations and 20 percent of schools were at risk of flooding.⁴⁵ But these data weren't initially integrated into the considerable capital planning decisions accompanying the Green New Deal Recovery. Local leaders too often sign off on projects without a complete understanding of the ESG risks associated with an investment.

DISCLOSURES ARE INCONSISTENT

The lack of consistent disclosure requirements stems from the fact that ESG risks have historically been divorced from traditional financial risks. Forty-six percent of investors surveyed in EY's 2021 Global Corporate Reporting Survey agreed that this disconnect compromises the effectiveness of ESG disclosures.⁴⁶ The financial community is beginning to recognize ESG risks as material, but that hasn't yet translated into uniform reporting requirements.

46 percent of investors responding to EY's 2021 survey agreed: A disconnect between ESG risks and traditional financial risks compromises the effectiveness of ESG disclosures.

The Milken Institute mapped ESG risks to the underwriting criteria (not ESG-specific scores) of various rating agencies such as Moody's, S&P Global, and Fitch Ratings and the reporting frameworks or standards of CDP Cities Disclosures, TCFD, SASB, and GRI. The exercise found that current reporting options fail to comprehensively account for all material ESG risks, whether voluntary or mandatory. For example, while most bond rating agencies regard physical risk and infrastructure adaptation as environmental risks, none considers the availability of insurance coverage. The lack of insurance led to rampant mortgage delinquency in Houston after Hurricane Harvey in 2017. Inconsistencies are an even greater problem in reporting social risks. GRI is one of the few agencies that account for racial justice concerns in their evaluations. Mandatory disclosure documents outlining specified ESG metrics would be invaluable to issuers and investors.

Several Lab participants expressed optimism about some rule changes recently proposed by the SEC. In March 2022, the agency floated rules requiring public companies to include certain climate-related disclosures in specific official documents, if the corporation believes they have a material impact on their business.⁴⁷ More recently, in May 2022, the SEC proposed updating the Names Rule to require asset managers to have at least 80 percent of their funds aligned with the strategy indicated by the product's name.⁴⁸ If implemented, it could significantly impact products labeled as sustainable or ESG. While many agree that both proposals are likely to see significant legal pushback, therefore delaying enactment, they are meaningful market signals nonetheless. Although these rules do not directly apply to municipal issuers and borrowers, both proposals are likely to help standardize the requirements around sustainable investing.

EDUCATION AND RESOURCE GAPS

Lab participants discussed the need to educate local governments about what information they should gather and share with potential investors. Many municipalities, for example, may not know how to distinguish material risks from nonmaterial ones. Others may fail to understand how investors use the data they provide, which can cause the agencies to waste time and money collecting data that fail to fulfill the intended need. But developing in-house business units equipped to provide the necessary analysis, interpretation, and operationalization of data (or hiring third-party data services) can be prohibitively expensive, especially for smaller issuers. Advanced climate risk mapping and modeling, scenario planning over long-time horizons, and assessing pandemic preparedness all cost money—money that strapped municipalities may not have.

A recent Environmental Resources Management's SustainAbility Institute survey found that corporate issuers spend more than \$675,000 annually on climate-related disclosures. The largest expenditure categories include greenhouse gas analysis and disclosure, climate scenario analysis, and internal climate risk management controls.⁴⁹

Translating key data points into language that a broad set of stakeholders can understand is difficult without experienced professionals. Issuers at the Lab highlighted projects they had financed with social or environmental benefits, but the underlying bonds were not labeled as sustainable due to a lack of resources. There are options available to help issuers enhance their technical capacity. However, without additional funds or resources for sustainable bond management, issuers have limited alternatives.

Investors must also spend considerable time and money evaluating sustainable opportunities and accessing independent verifications that show the proceeds are indeed allocated toward—and hopefully accomplish—the E, S, or G goals set. Although some data are already available, it is time-consuming and inefficient to mine through different publicly accessible websites or find creative ways to source the needed information.

The same SustainAbility Institute survey found that institutional investors spend an average of \$1.4 million to collect, analyze, and report climate data.⁵⁰ The priciest expenditures were for external ESG ratings, data providers and consultants, proxy analyses (both external and in-house), and internal climate-related investment analyses.⁵¹ Even cash-rich businesses like those in financial services cannot afford to spend millions yearly to gather bespoke datasets. And even if they can, the additional costs may deter investors from participating.

> Institutional investors spend an average of \$1.4 million to collect, analyze, and report climate data.

Lab participants also urged a greater understanding of the difference between risk and impact. Those who view ESG issues as risk evaluate the physical threat climate change poses to a municipality's ability to repay bondholders, and utilize the data to understand underwriting attributes in investment analysis. Those who view ESG issues in terms of impact consider municipalities' steps to mitigate their carbon footprint and are likely to look at impact-focused data to help clients burnish the ESG credentials of their choosing. Although related, the datasets required to fulfill each purpose are different. Given that the rating agencies and underwriters remain the most influential stakeholders in a muni bond issuance, municipalities may prioritize risk-related disclosures. Meanwhile, without price differentials

signaled by the market for non-financial-related outcomes (e.g., significant change in demand for impact on the side of investors), municipalities may deprioritize or fail to gather impact-related data due to capacity or cost constraints.

It is essential, therefore, to develop solutions that offset the costs of data collection, aggregation, and analysis. Creating a central platform for data aggregation, implementing regional best practice centers, and non-traditional partnerships or financial incentives to encourage greater data sharing among all stakeholders are needed.



Adequately understanding and planning for environmental risks can help to reduce future spending on remediation

and extreme weather

event clean-up.

S:

Thriving populations require resources dedicated to a community's social needs, which can only be gauged if diverse datasets are integrated into the budgeting processes.

G:

Integrating a complete set of factors into local capital planning processes can only be achieved if risk is addressed strategically.

Source: Milken Institute (2022)

INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

During the Lab, participants discussed various options to address the barriers currently hindering robust planning and funding of municipal ESG bonds. Many agreed that issuers must integrate ESG data as early as possible into assessment, budgeting, and project preparation to mitigate future shocks to their systems. Some of the most promising recommendations for upstreaming ESG and other risk mitigation efforts focused on opportunities to unearth the gaps in datasets, coordinate better collection and disclosure, establish best practice centers to coordinate resources into regional implementation plans, and develop partnerships to enable government incentive programs.



Establish a Risk Management System

Municipal issuers must first and foremost shift how they integrate ESG factors into their assessment and budget planning. Before going to the capital markets to issue bonds or target investors who care about sustainability, the agencies need to better address existing and future shocks.

One tool discussed earlier is Enterprise Risk Management (ERM), which is the systematic approach to evaluating and addressing risks head-on.⁵² Strategically managing risk is beneficial because it helps identify vulnerable areas and potentially high-risk situations early and provides mitigation strategies based on the profile and size of risk. It is often the most costeffective way to address potential threats before they become disasters. Although some major cities have begun implementing ERM systems, in government, ERM systems have mostly been limited to the federal or state level with agencies that tend to have more consolidated oversight over the day-to-day operations of their portfolio.

As a demonstration of how centralization has supported federal agencies, in 2016, the US Office of Management and Budget (OMB) issued an updated circular requiring all federal agencies to implement ERM. With OMB's support, they were able to provide concrete best practices and guidance for federal agency implementation. Given the unique composition of local government, municipal ERM systems will require additional modification and design considerations based on size, leadership structure, and local needs.



Figure 6: Enterprise Risk Management Framework

Source: Milken Institute (2022)

An ERM system starts with a framework to outline goals, governance, methodologies, and implementation, as seen at the apex of the pyramid in Figure 6. The most significant constraint to municipal governments implementing ERM systems is local leadership that is unable to execute unilaterally. Therefore, a particular emphasis must be placed on establishing a strong governance framework that outlines risk sharing. Once there is a general structure, municipalities need to add detail to their budgets with specific examples of what type of data is required, how to collect it, what technology is necessary to aggregate the information, and how to operationalize all of this in day-to-day decisions.

Academic institutions and consulting firms are starting to design "off-the-shelf" programs for municipalities to implement risk management at an agency level. The University of Washington is developing an open-source tool to outline an organizational framework for risk management that includes a set of metrics based on the entity's exposure to environmental, social, and governance challenges. It allows for project assessment based on data that track various agreed-upon categories.

Any risk management system requires funding, technology, leadership, and long-term management. This may work for larger cities, but because smaller issuers may not have all of those necessary elements, Lab participants discussed an iterative deployment model that enables municipalities to develop a comprehensive ERM system over time.

CATEGORIZE TYPES OF DATA AND DEFINE THE USE CASE

The first action municipalities can undertake is a comprehensive ESG risk assessment. This type of review requires data. Many issuers have some kinds of information, like water usage or energy reduction, but may need to gather additional evidence to complete their overview. Lab participants discussed the easiest method for issuers to begin categorizing their data, as seen in Figure 7.



Figure 7: Levels of Data and the Associated Providers

Source: Milken Institute (2022)

Apart from existing data and project-level assessments, issuers will have to look to other government entities, NGOs, academic institutions, and third-party providers. As discussed, these gaps can be challenging to navigate, as entities don't often naturally coordinate, and purchasing other intelligence can be expensive. For example, a town in California might want to assess the effects of pollution on the community and utilize a tool, CalEnviroScreen, which leverages statewide scientific models to map environmental risks. The program, however, requires quantitative add-ons to demonstrate specific impact metrics at a local level. Similarly, an NGO tracking educational attainment for school districts may be able to better aggregate information, like test scores and teacher turnover rates, that would otherwise be siloed in various agency departments. A city may be better served partnering with that NGO to save time and navigate bureaucracies.

Next Steps:

- Determine which issuers have the ability to create an organization-wide ERM system.
- Design the framework of the ERM system, including goals, governance, methodology, and implementation.
- Identify components of an ERM system that might be easier to execute without creating an entire system, especially for smaller issuers.
- Categorize metrics by availability and the cost and effort required to obtain them.
- Convene a follow-up working group to establish the use case of greater data transparency for all stakeholder parties.

Build a Technology Platform to Centralize Data

Coordinating and aggregating data was a priority conversation throughout the Lab. If the market can agree on which metrics to track, the next step is ensuring the information is easily warehoused and accessible. Lab participants debated whether a new, dedicated ESG data platform designed for municipal providers was the best route forward or if it was possible to improve technology already available, such as the Municipal Securities



Rulemaking Board's EMMA platform discussed earlier. The consensus was that a combination of new platforms and modifications to existing ones would be the most viable solution since technology continually changes, and it can be challenging to update legacy systems. Outlining data governance is critical because privacy and ownership remain hot-button issues. Any new platform must have clear boundaries, starting with specifying the information's use case.

SHARING INTERNAL DATA ALLOWS AGENCIES TO WORK SMARTER, NOT HARDER

The benefits of a collaborative platform that aggregates publicly available data are undeniable. Several participants pointed to the city of Phoenix as an example of how municipalities can leverage existing data for multiple purposes. Phoenix's chief sustainability officer (CSO) has collected various datasets for a city-wide sustainability report. In March 2020, the city's chief financial officer's (CFO) office realized it could point to data already available in the sustainability report to serve as sufficient disclosure of a sustainable bond issuance.⁵³ Collaboration between the CSO and CFO allowed their teams to share data and leverage existing documentation in multiple formats. Developing a central data platform could ensure that the Phoenix example becomes the norm rather than the exception. It would also allow those who report data to see what their peers are submitting, improving both the quality and quantity of information.

ACCESSIBILITY IS ESSENTIAL

In developing a data aggregation platform, key factors are accessibility, usability, and quality. Unfortunately, too much of the available ESG data is locked in inaccessible documents in PDF form. There is no way for users to sort, manipulate, or export the metrics without manually transferring them to a spreadsheet.

Lab participants mentioned the potential for value creation if, at a minimum, users could access data in a sortable way, allowing them to integrate the information into their internal investment processes. This is particularly true for investors who need raw data that they can manipulate to evaluate their investment decisions. Technology allowing information to become "machinereadable" would be an ideal feature of any data platform. So would web-based technology that automatically updated data with the most recent reported figures.

THE EXTERNAL USE CASE

All participants agreed that municipal agencies must be assured of the use case before committing to store data on a platform that might be viewed outside of the organization. Issuers noted that published data often represent only a subset of the project-level data collected. Agencies may be reluctant to share information if it opens them up to increased scrutiny and possible legal repercussions.

Risk events with constantly changing cost estimates put municipalities in a tricky position to report on the total impact. In 2017, for example, Florida's governor initially projected damages from Hurricane Irma at \$5.4 billion. On the other hand, the insurance market assessed losses at just \$2.6 billion.⁵⁴ Five years later, both those estimates proved woefully incomplete. After factoring in litigation, insurance fraud, and other processes, the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund priced the total cost of the hurricane at \$9.25 billion.⁵⁵ Current loss estimates for September 2022's Hurricane Ian range between \$41 billion and \$70 billion.⁵⁶

Fully understanding the use case of various stakeholders may encourage municipalities to publish holistic and in some cases changing datasets. To access the platform, stakeholders should be required to acknowledge the fluid nature of reporting on current risks. Leveraging systems like Google's Federated Learning, which allows the computer to search and learn from data without recognizing the owner, may help to reduce the risks for data providers.⁵⁷

BUDGETING FOR A CENTRALIZED SOLUTION

While there was general agreement on the need for a centralized technology platform to track ESG risk factor data, the challenge remains of how to pay for it without burdening cash-strapped municipalities, especially in the face of a potential recession. One option might be to use existing federal funding streams. For example, Florida used federal COVID-19 relief money to help fund a coastal resilience study.

Additionally, local governments could investigate the potential to leverage funding from the Creating Helpful Incentives to Produce Semiconductors (CHIPS) and Science Act, which allocates federal resources to invest in American technology.⁵⁸ However, it is important that any resources, whether federal, state, or local, be allocated through multiyear budget agreements rather than a one-time injection. According to the National Association of State Budget Officers' most recent Proposed Budget Summaries report, 17 states enacted multiyear budgets.⁵⁹ This signals that local officers are thinking strategically over the long term. Capitalizing on that mentality is critical to move the consideration and tracking of ESG risks upstream in the decision-making process.

Another avenue would be to monetize the data, creating a revenue source to fund at least a portion of the platform. Investors at the Lab said their firms spend tens of millions of dollars purchasing data every year. Few would object to paying for complete and consistent sets of municipal-level data. If the platform were governed externally, as it would be through EMMA, there might even be a way to provide grants for issuers who need financial assistance in implementing the technology. There could also be pricing tiers to the data, allowing users to access opensource information for free while keeping more proprietary data behind a paywall.

Create Centers of Excellence for Coordination

Because the risks and potential impacts of different ESG factors differ from one part of the country to another, a regional approach can help municipalities, especially smaller ones, develop more accurate risk assessment frameworks. The risks and potential impacts of different ESG factors will not be standard across the country. For example, assessing hurricane risk and potential impacts on local communities will be far more material to the Southeastern United States than the West Coast. Establishing regional best practice centers will create clear definitions of risk and impact and help develop implementation plans that communities can use throughout the region.

A handful of regional best practice centers already exist and can serve as models. For example, the Sonoma County Regional Climate Protection Authority consists of representatives from the county and each of its nine cities, collaborating to reduce carbon emissions county-wide.⁶⁰ The Puget Sound Climate Preparedness Collaborative is a network of counties, tribal governments, and municipalities (including the city of Seattle) working together to ensure that the local community remains resilient to the impacts of climate change. The collaborative aims to "build a shared understanding of regional climate impacts, and to facilitate access to climate preparedness tools, research, recommendations, and best practices."61 At the opposite end of the country, Miami-Dade, Broward, Monroe, and Palm Beach counties

Next Steps:

- Survey stakeholders on the ideal format and key components for a technology platform.
- Establish safeguards for municipalities reporting on ongoing risk scenarios that convey the changing nature of these metrics.
- Determine whether it is more prudent to establish a new technology platform, enhance an existing system, or use some combination of the two.
- Estimate upfront and ongoing costs to keep a robust platform in operation and determine whether it is cost-effective to charge for using the data.
- Analyze research and deployment potential in the CHIPS and Science Act to establish a centralized technology solution for municipal governments.

created the Southeast Florida Regional Climate Change Compact in 2009 to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and build climate resilience across the entire region. The Compact's Regional Climate Action Plan shares best practices and helps local communities implement adaptation strategies.⁶² More municipalities need to band together to assess and address ESG risks specific to their regions.

Lab participants also broached the idea of establishing function-based alliances—for example, a collaboration of waste management agencies whose material business risks are likely to be consistent. Function-based groups could also form a subset within a broader regional best practice center. Other coalitions might unite agencies in cities or counties that leverage the same public infrastructure systems. Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) are one such example. They were established in 1962 to give local elected officials input into planning and implementing federally funded transportation projects in cities with populations over 50,000.⁶³

While the lion's share of the work should be executed at the regional level, there are

opportunities to layer on federal incentives for successful regional coordination. As discussed, the funds approved in 2021 through the American Rescue Plan Act and the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act allocate unprecedented capital to enhancing muni bond capacity. New funding for energy, climate, and economic development innovation in the Inflation Reduction Act and the Creating Helpful Incentives to Produce Semiconductors (CHIPS) Act, passed in the summer of 2022, will also establish new regional technology hubs. These will place a particular emphasis on underserved and capacity-challenged communities, often those most directly affected by climate risks. In work alongside this Financial Innovations Lab, the Milken Institute has recommended some of this funding be deployed through a Predevelopment Fund executed by either the US Department of the Treasury or the US Department of Commerce. Building on the proposed municipal regional best practice centers is an opportunity for the federal government to establish Regional Deployment Accelerators. These groups would help communities access federal predevelopment capital or technical assistance to improve data tracking and outcomes.

Next Steps:

- Suggest groupings of municipal agencies and counties, potentially leveraging the coordination of MPOs, to begin designing regional best practice centers.
- Understand baseline and material risk factors for each center.
- Communicate the opportunity to federal leaders at the Department of the Treasury or the Department of Commerce to enhance regional coordination through access to federal dollars to support predevelopment or technical assistance capacity.
- Define data reporting requirements through a regional implementation plan.
- Integrate capacity-building benefits for issuers participating in a regional approach.

Utilize New and Existing Disclosure Platforms

ENCOURAGE THE USE OF ENGAGEMENT LETTERS

One of the most demanding challenges for bond issuers is responding to the myriad data requests from different investors. There is no ESG equivalent of the generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) information required for financial statements. That creates a headache for issuers.

Some investors at the Lab highlighted the effectiveness of an engagement letter: a document published by investors that tells municipalities exactly which metrics are essential to their investment strategy. Engagement letters can also request risk metrics that incorporate a holistic set of underwriting attributes and impact reporting to help investors measure progress over time. Engagement letters typically ask for a standard set of metrics, streamlining the type of information issuers need to collect. Designing sector-specific engagement letter templates would standardize the process even more. Lab participants agreed that power utilities and water authorities were well-positioned to take the lead in this arena, as their reporting requirements are already somewhat uniform. This sector approach can serve as a proxy SASB-materiality map for the investment community to align.

CREATE AN ANNUAL RISK AND IMPACT STATEMENT

Another tool that can facilitate a more transparent disclosure of ESG data is an annual Risk and Impact Statement. By assessing their performance at regular intervals, issuers will be better equipped to show investors how each project does or

Navigating What Investors Want

There is an inherent tension between what investors want to know about a bond issuance and what issuers are willing to share. The municipal bond market is often described as made up of snowflakes because each issuance is unique. The diversity of issuers and use of proceeds makes it difficult for investors to make apples-to-apples comparisons of different bonds. But despite the strong demand for standardized metrics and reporting to address these market dynamics, a solution seems unlikely in the near term.

Lab participants also discussed grouping metrics by the type of issuer. The corporate market offers examples of a different way of classifying bonds. Many corporations and communities pledged to reach net-zero carbon emissions by a certain date. Some investors now classify their corporate bond portfolio based on whether a company has made such a promise and, if so, how likely it is to keep it. Investors in the municipal market could create classifications for similar pledges by cities and agencies, not just for net-zero emissions pledges but for the panoply of environmental and social goals.

However, it's worth noting that a classification is not the same as a full risk assessment; it is simply a means of comparing issuers to one another. More work would need to be done to see if net-zero or other similar classifications could benefit investors and issuers.

does not address material ESG risks. Many municipalities already produce a similar document when assessing infrastructure life-cycle costs. Integrating ESG concerns into these evaluations could be a natural extension of work that CFOs do already. By articulating a long-term, strategic approach to new project procurement, Risk and Impact Statements can be seen as the first step toward adopting a comprehensive Enterprise Risk Management system.

A report by Georgetown University's Beeck Center for Social Impact + Innovation argues that all infrastructure budgets should adopt a performance-based approach. This way of budgeting moves away from the lowest estimated cost of upfront construction to understanding the best overall value to taxpayers.⁶⁴ Included in a CFO's Risk and Impact Statement should be performancebased budgeting for all local infrastructure projects to account for ESG risks more adequately in life-cycle costs. This will help indicate to investors how each project does or does not address material ESG risks. The goal of the Risk and Impact Statement should be to provide additional transparency on how local government manages and finances risk factors.

Next Steps:

- Create sector-specific off-theshelf engagement letters that investors can adapt, as needed, to communicate ESG data information requests more effectively to municipalities.
- Require annual Risk and Impact statements that address budgeting, procurement, risk management, and performance components.

Key Points:

- Engagement letters will help to standardize investor requests for information.
- Risk and Impact Statements will improve outcome tracking.

Recognize and Reward Innovation and Excellence

Without incentives, there is a risk that municipal governments may not regard any of the above recommendations as worth their time or investment. With that in mind, Lab participants debated several options that would encourage partnership and promote excellence. Many agreed that nothing motivates like a prize competition, which the Milken Institute PFIN Council could coordinate with interested partners. Working group conversations at the Lab eagerly outlined the rudiments of an award recognizing cooperation and coordination among government agencies.

Most of these conversations concluded that a city or county government should spearhead any team applying for such a prize. But the roster should also include representatives from regional agencies such as a utility or transportation authority, as well as a non-government organization (NGO) to encourage each coalition to articulate social and/ or environmental impacts on its community. Some Lab participants also urged including representatives from the private sector because a region's large private employers can likely contribute robust, relevant data. Adding investors to a team might also be a boon.

To qualify for the prize, an entry would need to identify the region's most important environmental and social governance goals, and provide an implementation plan outlining how the coalition would address those risks. Since not all regions have the same capacity or resources, there must be differentiated standards based on economic conditions (based on either median income or GDP ranges). Teams representative of higher-income areas should be judged to a higher standard given their available resources.

Figure 8: Best Practice Examples of Municipal Innovation

Regional Collaboration in Ohio

- Ohio has taken a coordinated, regional approach, across five authorities, to improve economic development.
- OhioJobs has provided \$50 million in additional debt reserves to protect against bond default, giving the authorities the ability to invest in necessary infrastructure improvements at a lower risk.
- The OhioJobs debt reserve supports five investment-grade bonds issued by the Cleveland-Cuyahoga County Port Authority, Toledo-Lucas County Port Authority, Columbus-Franklin County Finance Authority, the Development Finance Authority of Summit County, and the Port of Greater Cincinnati Development Authority/Dayton-Montgomery County Port Authority.

San Francisco's Public Utility Leads the Way

- In 2016, the San Francisco Public Utility Comission (SFPUC) became the first organization to certify a green bond using the Climate Bonds Water Criteria.
- In October 2020, SFPUC issued a \$342 million taxable green bond. The issuance was listed on the London Stock Exchange, making it the first listed taxable green bond.
- Listing on a public exchange helped to access new investor types, as well as provide liquidity to the market.

Sources: The Port of Cincinnati (2022)65; San Francisco Public Utility Commission (2022)66

A good model for such an award might be Bond Buyer's annual Deal of the Year, which recognizes innovatively structured issuances that address a community's full diversity of needs.⁶⁷ Another example to emulate might be the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) program, which has tiers of accreditation, ranging from basic certification to platinum status. Announcing the recipients at high-profile events like the Bond Buyers Dinner or Milken Institute Public Finance Forum would bring attention to the winning entries and the importance of cooperation and coordination within the municipal bond space overall. Moreover, as the award becomes established over time, a leadership council of past winners would highlight a new class of sustainability experts who could share best practices and lessons learned during the process. Creating such a repository of information helps all stakeholders improve their methods and is critical to moving the market forward.

Figure 9: Sample Prize-Qualifying Criteria

Prize-Qualifying Criteria				
Team member representatives must include:	City/county government, regional agencies, NGO, private sector (extra points for investors)			
Submission Criteria	 E, S, and G factors material to the region Regional implementation plan 			
Tiered Standards	Based on median income or GDP ranges			
Certification Scheme	Awarded to regional centers that made progress			
Leadership Council	Winning regional team leader inducted to participate in invite-only events			

Source: Milken Institute (2022)

Next Steps:

- Define competition guidelines, including team makeup, timing, scoring, and awards.
- Promote the opportunity for participation through relevant network channels and encourage regional groups to form as an impetus for participation.
- Organize an inaugural award ceremony at a high-profile event to excite participants.

CONCLUSION

Sustainable debt investments and the market for ESG data continue to expand. But without effective measuring and tracking of the ESG risks specific to each community, there is a limit to that growth. What's unmeasured can't be managed. If the municipal bond market is to capitalize on this momentum, it will require coordinated efforts from all stakeholders to standardize data about material risks and look at ways to "upstream" ESG risk detection by embedding these concerns into existing government practices on budgeting, asset management, planning, and procurement.

Developing a centralized data repository and sector-specific guidelines for municipal issuers is the first step toward increased transparency. Since the risks and metrics material to an issuer are inherently dependent on geography, establishing regional best practice centers will have the most utility. Doing so will provide issuers with a tailored set of local-level best practices and facilitate data aggregation and standardization among issuers within the same region. And an annual prize recognizing cooperation and coordination among agencies will also encourage friendly competition in the sustainable issuance sphere. The environmental and financial health of municipalities may depend on how well communities adopt all of these recommendations.



ENDNOTES

- 1. "State and Local Expenditures," Urban Institute, accessed August 25, 2022, <u>https://www.urban.org/policy-centers/cross-center-initiatives/state-and-local-finance-initiative/state-and-local-background-ers/state-and-local-expenditures.</u>
- 2. "Investor Bulletin: The Municipal Securities Market," US Securities and Exchange Commission, accessed October 18, 2022, <u>https://www.investor.gov/introduction-investing/general-resources/news-</u> alerts/alerts-bulletins/investor-bulletins-36
- 3. "Legislative Analysis for Counties: The Bipartisan Infrastructure Law," National Association of Counties, accessed August 25, 2022, <u>https://www.naco.org/resources/legislative-analysis-counties-biparti-</u><u>san-infrastructure-law.</u>
- 4. Jordan Mendoza, "Ida Was One of the Strongest Hurricanes to Hit US Mainland. Here Are Some Stronger Ones," USA Today, November 18, 2021, <u>https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/na-tion/2021/09/01/hurricane-ida-top-10-strongest-hurricanes/5671303001/</u>.
- 5. Dylan Moriarty and Marisa Iati, "Anatomy of a Wildfire: How the Dixie Fire Became the Largest Blaze of a Devastating Summer," The Washington Post, September 17, 2021, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.</u> com/climate-environment/interactive/2021/dixie-fire/.
- 6. Adam B. Smith, "2021 U.S. Billion-Dollar Weather and Climate Disasters in Historical Context," National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Centers for Environmental Information, January 24, 2022, <u>https://www.climate.gov/news-features/blogs/beyond-data/2021-us-billion-dol-lar-weather-and-climate-disasters-historical.</u>
- 7. "State of Homelessness: 2021 Edition," National Alliance to End Homelessness, August 16, 2021, <u>https://endhomelessness.org/homelessness-in-america/homelessness-statistics/state-of-homeless-ness-2021/.</u>
- 8. Kimberly Rodgers Cornaggia, John Hund, Giang Nguyen, and Zihan Ye, "Opioid Crisis Effects on Municipal Finance," Review of Financial Studies, vol. 35, no. 4, (April 14, 2021) 2019–2066, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3448082</u>.
- 9. "Criminal Justice Expenditures: Police, Corrections, and Courts," Urban Institute, accessed August 25, 2022, <u>https://www.urban.org/policy-centers/cross-center-initiatives/state-and-local-finance-initia-tive/state-and-local-backgrounders/criminal-justice-police-corrections-courts-expenditures.</u>
- 10. Amelia Thomson-DeVeaux, Laura Bronner, and Damini Sharma, "Cities Spend Millions on Police Misconduct Every Year. Here's Why It's So Difficult to Hold Departments Accountable," FiveThirtyEight, February 22, 2021, <u>https://fivethirtyeight.com/features/police-misconduct-costs-cities-millions-ev-</u> ery-year-but-thats-where-the-accountability-ends/?itid=lk_inline_enhanced-template.
- 11. Sanjai Bhagat, "An Inconvenient Truth About ESG Investing," Harvard Business Review, March 31, 2022, https://hbr.org/2022/03/an-inconvenient-truth-about-esg-investing.

- 12. Olivia Albrecht, Dan Carol, Natalie Cohen, Gary Hall, Caitlin MacLean, David Narefsky, Hector Negroni, Lois Scott, Courtney Shea, and Daniel S. Solender. Letter to Patrick Brett, Mark T. Kim, Ronald W. Smith. "Re: Perspectives on ESG-Related Disclosure and ESG-Labeled Bond Market Practices in the Municipal Securities Market." Public Finance. Milken Institute, March 8, 2022. <u>https://milkeninstitute.org/sites/default/files/2022-03/PublicFinanceAdvisoryCouncilCommentLetterMSRBRFIonESG.</u> pdf.
- 13. Gary C. Peters, Marco Rubio, Peter A. DeFazio, and Sheila Jackson Lee, "Gao-20-633r, Natural Disasters: Economic Effects of Hurricanes Katrina, Sandy, Harvey, and Irma," September 10, 2020, <u>https://</u> www.gao.gov/assets/gao-20-633r.pdf.
- 14. "Expected Costs of Damage from Hurricane Winds and Storm-Related Flooding," Congressional Budget Office, April, 2019, www.cbo.gov/publication/55019.
- 15. Yanjun Liao and Carolyn Kousky, "The Fiscal Impacts of Wildfires on California Municipalities," Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists, 9(3), 455-493, (September 2021), http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3612311.
- 16. lbid.
- 17. "The State of the Nation's Housing 2020" (Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, December 2020), <u>https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/reports/files/Harvard_JCHS_The_</u>State_of_the_Nations_Housing_2020_Report_Revised_120720.pdf.
- 18. lbid.
- 19. "Homelessness in America: Overview of Data and Causes," National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty, January 2015, <u>https://homelesslaw.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Homeless_Stats_Fact_Sheet.pdf.</u>
- 20. "Homelessness as a Public Health Law Issue: Selected Resources," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, accessed August 25, 2022, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/phlp/publications/topic/resources/resources-homelessness.html.</u>
- 21. Kimberly Rodgers Cornaggia, John Hund, Giang Nguyen, and Zihan Ye, "Opioid Crisis Effects on Municipal Finance."
- 22. Ibid.
- 23. Ibid.
- 24. Ibid.
- 25. Ibid.
- 26. "ESG Integration in Sub-Sovereign Debt: The US Municipal Bond Market," Principles for Responsible Investment, July 26, 2021, <u>https://www.unpri.org/fixed-income/esg-integration-in-sub-sovereign-debt-the-us-municipal-bond-market/8079.article.</u>
- 27. Amelia Thomson-DeVeaux, Laura Bronner, and Damini Sharma, "Cities Spend Millions on Police Misconduct Every Year. Here's Why It's So Difficult to Hold Departments Accountable."

- 28. "Sustainable Investing Basics," The Forum for Sustainable and Responsible Investment, accessed July 10, 2022, https://www.ussif.org /sribasics.
- 29. "US Municipal Sustainable Debt Issuance Could Surpass \$60 Billion in 2022," S&P Global Ratings, accessed July 10, 2022, <u>https://www.spglobal.com/ratings/en/research/articles/220210-u-s-munici-pal-sustainable-debt-issuance-could-surpass-60-billion-in-2022-12259605</u>.

30. Ibid.

- 31. "Global Sustainable Bond Issuance to Surpass \$1.5 Trillion in 2022," S&P Global Ratings, accessed July 10, 2022, <u>https://www.spglobal.com/ratings/en/research/articles/220207-global-sustainable-bond-issuance-to-surpass-1-5-trillion-in-2022-12262243</u>.
- 32. Anne-Laure Foubert, "ESG Data Is Now Worth It" (Opimas, April 2022), <u>http://www.opimas.com/re-search/742/detail/.</u>
- 33. Ibid.
- 34. Ibid.
- 35. "SASB Standards & Other ESG Frameworks," Value Reporting Foundation, accessed July 10, 2022, <u>https://www.sasb.org/about/sasb-and-other-esg-frameworks/#:~:text=SASB%20Standards%20</u> can%20be%20used,related%20Financial%20Disclosures%20(TCFD).
- 36. Ibid.
- 37. Robert Feyer, James Hernandez, Alison Radecki, and Stephen Spitz, "Disclosure Obligations of Issuers of Municipal Securities" (Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, 2018), <u>https://www.orrick.com/Gener-</u> ic-Articles/~/media/1319FA2AC404476B9DFA74C3B5853C74.ashx.
- 38. "New EMMA Feature Helps Investors Identify Green Social, Climate, and Sustainable Bond Investments," Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, October 25, 2021, <u>https://www.msrb.org/News-and-Events/Press-Releases/2021/EMMA-ESG-Indicator.</u>
- 39. Cities 2021 Scoring Introduction," Carbon Disclosure Project, accessed July 10, 2022, <u>https://guid-ance.cdp.net/en/guidance?ctype=theme&idtype=ThemeID&cid=21&otype=ScoringModule&inc-child=0µsite=0&gettags=0&tags=TAG-570.</u>
- 40. "North America State of the Market 2021" (Climate Bonds Initiative, June 2021), <u>https://www.cli-</u>matebonds.net/files/reports/north_america_sotm_final.pdf.
- 41. "Coastal Flooding and Economic Loss Analysis" (Dewberry, March 2020), <u>https://www.vbgov.com/government/departments/public-works/comp-sea-level-rise/Documents/20200330_FloodRiskAnalysis_Final_%282%29.pdf.</u>
- 42. Ibid.
- 43. Mark Beasley, Al Chen, and Ericka F. Kranitz, "Strengthening Risk Management before the Next Big Crisis" (Government Finance Officers Association, August 2021), <u>https://gfoaorg.cdn.prismic.io/</u> gfoaorg/c17a0f2b-5829-4998-9f86-fa57db3fe64a_RiskManagement_GFR0821.pdf.
- 44. "Enterprise Risk Management: Selected Agencies' Experiences Illustrate Good Practices in Managing Risk" (United States Government Accountability Office, December 2016), <u>https://www.gao.gov/as-sets/gao-17-63.pdf</u>.

- 45. "Mayor Sadiq Khan Warns That Time Is Running Out to Act on The Climate Emergency as London Faces Threat of Soaring Temperatures and Floods," Bloomberg Philanthropies, September 23, 2021, https://www.bloomberg.org/press/mayor-sadiq-khan-warns-that-time-is-running-out-to-act-on-theclimate-emergency-as-london-faces-threat-of-soaring-temperatures-and-floods/; "Mayor Redoubles Efforts to Safeguard London from Climate Change," Mayor of London, published March 23, 2022, https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/4m-fund-to-safeguard-london-from-climatechange.
- 46. "Eighth Global Corporate Reporting Survey" (Ernst & Young, December 2021), <u>https://assets.ey.com/</u> <u>content/dam/ey-sites/ey-com/en_gl/topics/assurance/assurance-pdfs/ey-2021-corporate-report-</u> <u>ing-survey.pdf?download.</u>
- 47. Marc Bauer, "The SEC's Proposed New Climate-Related Disclosure Requirements for Public Companies: What Do They Mean for Municipal Issuers and Borrowers?" Orrick, June 8, 2022, <u>https://www.orrick.com/en/Insights/2022/06/The-SECs-Proposed-New-Climate-Related-Disclosure-Requirements-for-Public-Companies.</u>
- 48. David Isenberg, "SEC Proposal on Fund Names Looms Over Everything, Not Just ESG," Financial Times, June 14, 2022, https://www.ft.com/content/cfc9a6db-59ef-4043-a45f-d6a78c63e52b.
- 49. Mark Lee, Emily Brock, and Doug McNair, "Costs and Benefits of Climate-Related Disclosure Activities by Corporate Issuers and Institutional Investors" (The Sustainability Institute by ERM, May 2022), <u>https://www.sustainability.com/thinking/costs-and-benefits-of-climate-related-disclosure-activi-</u> ties-by-corporate-issuers-and-institutional-investors/.
- 50. Ibid.
- 51. Ibid.
- 52. "The State of Risk Oversight: An Overview of Enterprise Risk Management Strategies" (American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, April 2021), <u>https://us.aicpa.org/content/dam/aicpa/inter-estareas/businessindustryandgovernment/resources/erm/downloadabledocuments/aicpa-erm-research-study-2021.pdf.</u>
- 53. Richard Freund and Christina Copeland, "5 Ways Phoenix Is Leading on Water Security," Carbon Disclosure Project, August 28, 2020, <u>https://www.cdp.net/en/articles/water/5-ways-phoenix-is-lead-ing-on-water-security.</u>
- 54. "Governor Ron DeSantis Announces Threshold Met for Increased Federal Cost Share for Hurricane Irma," Ron DeSantis, 46th Governor of Florida, accessed July 15, 2022, <u>https://www.</u> flgov.com/2019/08/19/governor-ron-desantis-announces-threshold-met-for-increased-federal-cost-share-for-hurricane-irma/#:~:text=Fort%20Myers%2C%20Fla.,75%20percent%20to%20 90%20percent.
- 55. "Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund" (Florida State Board of Administration, February 2022), https://www.sbafla.com/fhcf/Portals/FHCF/Content/Reports/PML/FHCF2022_PMLReportFinal. pdf?ver=2022-02-07-141001-360#:~:text=Even%20after%20the%20projected%20ultimate,to%20 2016%20with%20no%20losses.

- 56. Brenda Richardson, "Total Flood and Wind Losses from Hurricane Ian Range from \$41 Billion to \$70 Billion," *Forbes*, October 6, 2022, <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/brendarichardson/2022/10/06/total-flood-and-wind-losses-from-hurricane-ian-range-from-41-billion-to-70-billion/?sh=3586d29c2a92.</u>
- 57. Brendan McMahan and Daniel Ramage, "Federated Learning: Collaborative Machine Learning without Centralized Training Data," Google AI Blog, April 6, 2017, <u>https://ai.googleblog.com/2017/04/federat-ed-learning-collaborative.html.</u>
- 58. "Fact Sheet: CHIPS and Science Act Will Lower Costs, Create Jobs, Strengthen Supply Chains, and Counter China," The White House, August 9, 2022, <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/</u> <u>statements-releases/2022/08/09/fact-sheet-chips-and-science-act-will-lower-costs-create-jobs-</u> strengthen-supply-chains-and-counter-china/.
- 59. Summaries of Fiscal Year 2023 Proposed Budgets" (The National Association of State Budget Officers, updated July 2022), https://higherlogicdownload.s3.amazonaws.com/NASBO/9d2d2db1-c943-4f1b-b750-0fca152d64c2/UploadedImages/Issue%20Briefs%20/Summaries_of_Fiscal_Year_2023_Proposed_Budgets.pdf.
- 60. About RCPA," Regional Climate Protection Authority, accessed July 15, 2022, <u>https://rcpa.ca.gov/about-rcpa/.</u>
- 61. "Puget Sound Climate Preparedness Collaborative," Puget Sound Climate, accessed July 15, 2022, https://pugetsoundclimate.org/.
- 62. "What Is the RCAP?" Southeast Florida Regional Compact, accessed July 15, 2022, <u>https://southeast-floridaclimatecompact.org/about-us/what-is-the-rcap/</u>.
- 63. "Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO)," Federal Transit Administration, accessed July 15, 2022, <u>https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/transportation-planning/metropolitan-plan-</u> ning-organization-mpo.
- 64. "Performance-Based Infrastructure: Making the Shift" (Georgetown University, March 2017), <u>https://</u> <u>repository.library.georgetown.edu/bitstream/handle/10822/1051507/Performance-Based-Infra-</u> structure_BeeckCenter.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- 65. "JobsOhio Partners With Ohio's Investment Grade Port Authorities To Boost Port Authorities Bond Capacity Throughout Ohio," The Port, accessed July 15, 2022, <u>https://www.cincinnatiport.org/jobsohio-partners-with-ohios-investment-grade-port-authorities-to-boost-port-authorities-bond-capacity-throughout-ohio/.</u>
- 66. "SFPUC Receives International Award for Green Bond Program," San Francisco Public Utilities Commission, accessed July 15, 2022, <u>https://sfpuc.org/about-us/news/sfpuc-receives-internation-</u> al-award-green-bond-program.
- 67. "Deal of the Year," The Bond Buyer, accessed July 15, 2022, <u>https://www.bondbuyer.com/deal-of-the-year.</u>

PARTICIPANT LIST

First	Last	Title	Organization
Olivia	Albrecht	Global Head of ESG	The TCW Group
Robert	Amodeo	Head of Municipals	Western Asset Management
Brian	Anthony	Chief Data Officer	Municipal Standards Rulemaking Board
Chander	Balakumar	Senior Advisor	HIP Investor
Dana	Bezerra	President	Heron Foundation
Maressa	Brennan	Director, Innovative Finance	Milken Institute
Emily	Swenson Brock	Director, Federal Liaison Center	Government Finance Officers Association
Mike	Brown	Environmental Finance Manager	San Francisco Public Utilities Commission
Dan	Carol	Senior Director, Center for Financial Markets	Milken Institute
Natalie	Cohen	President	National Municipal Research
Daniel	Duffy	Policy Unit Head	NYC Mayor's Office of Management and Budget's Sustainability & Resiliency Taskforce
Jamiyl	Flemming	Senior Vice President	Siebert Williams Shank
Adam	Freed	Principal, Sustainability Practice	Bloomberg Associates
Richard	Freund	Senior Manager, Municipal Finance and Public Infrastructure	CDP
Eric	Friedland	Director, Municipal Bond Research	Lord Abbett
Jim	Golden	Managing Director, Chief Data Officer	Rockefeller Foundation
Alexa	Gordon	Portfolio Manager, Head of Muni ESG	Goldman Sachs
Rachel	Halfaker	Senior Associate, Center for Financial Markets	Milken Institute
lvy	Hsu	Associate, Innovative Finance	Milken Institute
Leonard	Jones	Managing Director, US Local Government Ratings	Moody's Investors Service
Caitlin	MacLean	Senior Director, Innovative Finance	Milken Institute

First	Last	Title	Organization
Katherine	Manning	Deputy Director, Portfolio & Risk Analytics	Illinois State Treasurer's Office
Sean	McCarthy	Head of Municipal Credit Research	PIMCO
Hector	Negroni	Founder & CEO	Foundation Credit
Srdana	Pokrajac	Senior Advisor	HIP Investor
Ellie	Price	Associate Director, US Public Finance	Fitch Ratings
Lois	Scott	Co-Founder	The 51 Fund
Eric	Shrago	Vice President of Operations	CT Green Bank
April	Smith-Hirak	Regional Health Administrator, Region 2	US Department of Health and Human Services Office of Regional Health Operations
Stacy	Swann	CEO and Founding Partner	Climate Finance Advisors
Harlin	Singh Urofsky	Global Head of Sustainable Investing	Citi
Karri	Ving	Business Strategy and Performance Manager	San Francisco Public Utilities Commission
Ben	Watkins	Director	Florida Division of Bond Finance
Jan	Whittington	Professor	University of Washington
Nora	Wittstruck	Senior Director & ESG Sector Lead	S&P Global

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Maressa Brennan is a director of innovative finance at the Milken Institute. She contributes to the research, development, execution, and follow-up of the Institute's Financial Innovations Labs, which address market failures and funding gaps within social or environmental issues. During Brennan's time at the Institute, she has worked on projects to direct capital to help the economy transition to be more environmentally sustainable, streamline the green and sustainable bond market for municipal issuers, and accelerate affordable housing development. Before joining the Milken Institute, Brennan worked at Mark Asset Management, a boutique hedge fund in New York, and Russell Investments on the hedge fund research team. Brennan graduated from George Washington University with a BA in international affairs and an MS in sustainability management from Columbia University.

Ivy Hsu is an associate of innovative finance at the Milken Institute. During Hsu's time at the Institute, she has worked on projects around structuring sustainable funding models for new antibiotics to help curb antimicrobial resistance and streamlining the sustainable bond market for municipal issuers. Before joining the Milken Institute, Hsu held research positions in clinical and lab settings at the University of Southern California (USC), addressing the social determinants of health and investigating nervous system pathways to improve working memory in older adults. Hsu graduated from USC with a BS in health promotion and disease prevention and an MS in finance.

Caitlin MacLean is the senior director of innovative finance at the Milken Institute. She oversees the research, development, execution, and follow-up of Financial Innovations Labs, which promote financial solutions to overcome economic and social challenges. During MacLean's tenure at the Institute, the labs have resulted in concrete outcomes, including the creation of new investment funds to support biomedical research and the implementation of government policies to facilitate the growth of the renewable energy sector. She is the co-author of many lab reports and related journal articles. Prior to joining the Institute, MacLean worked in the for-profit sector developing marketing campaigns and communication strategies for Fortune 500 companies. She also worked in the nonprofit sector managing fundraising and program administration for arts development organizations. MacLean is a graduate of the New School University and has an MBA in finance from the Anderson School of Management at the University of California, Los Angeles.



LOS ANGELES | WASHINGTON | NEW YORK | MIAMI | LONDON | ABU DHABI | SINGAPORE